THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2013-CP-02-02781

---

Stephen P. Donohue, Appellant

v.

City of North Augusta, the Mayor  
and City Council of North Augusta, Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

James D. Mosteller, III  
The Mosteller Law Firm, LLC  
P. O. Drawer 328  
Aiken, South Carolina 29802  
(803) 226-0396  
Attorney for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

FEB - 4 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHERE A STATUTE AUTHORIZES POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS TO UNDERTAKE ACTIONS ON CONDITION OF MAKING CERTAIN STATUTORY FINDING OF FACTS, DOES THAT SUBDIVISION MEET THE STATUTORY CONDITION WHEN IT MAKES SUCH FINDINGS WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE IN THE PUBLIC RECORD SUPPORTING SUCH FINDINGS?
2. WHERE THE TIF LAW AUTHORIZES POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS TO ISSUE DEBT PROVIDED THE AUTHORIZING ORDINANCE CONTAINS A LIST OF ALL PARCELS IN THE TIF DISTRICT, A FINDING OF STATIC OR DECLINING PROPERTY VALUES IN THE DISTRICT, AND THAT NO OTHER DEVELOPMENT WOULD OCCUR BUT FOR THE CREATION OF A TIF DISTRICT AND THE SUBDIVISION'S ORDINANCE FAILS TO ADDRESS THOSE CONDITIONS HAS THE MUNICIPALITY COMMITTED AN ULTRA VIRES ACT?
3. WHERE A MUNICIPALITY MEETS IN EXECUTIVE SESSION REPEATEDLY OVER THE COURSE OF A YEAR CONCERNING A MATTER OF INTENSE PUBLIC INTEREST AND ONLY DESCRIBES THE "SPECIFIC PURPOSE" OF THOSE MEETINGS AS "DISCUSSIONS OF NEGOTIATIONS INCIDENT TO 1 [2] CONTRACTUAL MATTERS" AND USES THAT DESCRIPTOR FOR ALL EXECUTIVE SESSIONS NO MATTER THE NATURE OF THE CONTRACT OR THE CONTRACTING PARTIES, DOES THAT CONDUCT VIOLATE SOUTH CAROLINA'S FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT REQUIREMENT FOR OPEN MEETINGS?
4. WHERE A MUNICIPALITY REPEATEDLY MEETS IN EXECUTIVE SESSION CONTRARY TO SOUTH CAROLINA'S FOIA AND THREATENS ANY CITIZEN WITH COUNTERSUIT IF THEY CHALLENGE THE PRODUCT OF THOSE MEETINGS, SHOULD THE COURT NULLIFY ALL ACTIONS FLOWING FROM THOSE MEETINGS AND THE THREATENED COUNTERSUIT BECAUSE OF THE SERIOUS INJURY DONE TO THE PRINCIPLE OF OPEN GOVERNMENT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint in this action was filed by Stephen P. Donohue and the River Club Homeowners Association on December 9, 2013 alleging that the City of North Augusta, the mayor and city council (Defendants/Respondents) enacted Ordinance 2013-19 authorizing the issuance of Tax Increment Finance (TIF) bonds in contravention to the required findings of the TIF authorizing statute, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 31-6-10, et. seq. The complaint also alleged repeated violations of the Freedom of Information Act by Respondents in the manner in which they entered executive sessions prior to enacting the ordinance. On December 23, 2013, counsel for both plaintiffs filed an amended complaint which dropped the River Club Homeowners Association as a party. The initial complaint was filed within 20 days of the passage of Ordinance No. 2013 -19.

On January 15, 2014, Respondents petitioned the Supreme Court of South Carolina to remove this action to its original jurisdiction. The Court denied that motion but by administrative order gave exclusive jurisdiction over this action to the Court of Common Pleas of Aiken County and assigned the case to Judge J. Ernest Kinard. Defendants timely answered the Complaint on April 14, 2014, effectively denying all claims.

The trial of this matter was held without a jury on July 18, 2014, and judgment was entered on August 20, 2014, in favor of Respondent denying all claims of Appellant. Appellant received the lower court's order August 27, 2014. Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration under SCRCF Rule 59(e) on September 2, 2014, and served it on September 5, 2014. The court denied the Rule 59 motion on September 17, 2014.

## FACTS

Appellant, Steve Donohue (Donohue) lives on the North Augusta Riverfront, less than half a mile from where the Respondents propose to build a stadium for the privately owned Augusta GreenJackets. The factual background in this case was essentially agreed upon by the parties at trial. In fact many of the exhibits are official records of the City of North Augusta and were introduced as joint exhibits.

In 1991, the City enacted Ordinance 91-07 (Joint Exhibit , ROA 712) establishing the North Augusta Redevelopment Commission pursuant to South Carolina Community Development Law, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 31-10-10 et seq. Shortly thereafter the City passed Resolution 91-06 establishing the Riverfront Redevelopment District as the area of operation for the Redevelopment Commission

Five years later, the City enacted Ordinance No. 96-10 in December 1996 (Defendant's Ex. 5) which, inter alia, created a Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District incorporating much of the prior Riverfront Redevelopment District and expanded it to create a 457-acre TIF District. The ordinance incorporated a list of the 239 parcels in the newly created TIF District. The first bond of just \$5,000.00 was issued on December 5, 2001. The maximum amount to be financed by the TIF was approximately Thirteen Million Four Hundred Thousand (\$13,400,000) Dollars.

More than a decade later on December 17, 2012, the City enacted Ordinance No. 2012-14 approving a development agreement between the City and the North Augusta Riverfront Development Company. That agreement was executed by both parties on January 8, 2013.

(Plaintiff's Ex. 5)(ROA 226-246). The developer's/City's obligations in that signed agreement were not contingent upon amending the existing TIF nor creating a new TIF district.

Shortly thereafter the Respondents were approached about building a stadium in North Augusta for the Augusta GreenJackets baseball team, initially to be sited at the North Augusta Industrial park. (ROA 68). Somehow, the City changed the concept, and Respondents began to pursue the GreenJackets stadium project for Riverfront development - code-named Project Jackson. After public hearings and notices the City enacted Ordinance No. 2013-19 on November 18, 2013 which amended the existing TIF to allow additional borrowing of up to Forty Three Million (\$43,000,000) Dollars, and extending the repayment period to the year 2048, in order to pay for the new stadium. (ROA 758).

Prior to enacting the amending TIF ordinance, City Council did not conduct a new blight study. City Council only reviewed one document concerning static or declining property values in the TIF District, and that document was not discussed by Council on the record. (ROA 68-69).

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT AND WAS IMPROPERLY INFLUENCED BY ITS ERRONEOUS ADMISSION AND RELIANCE UPON INCOMPETENT EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY IN RENDERING ITS DECISION.**

In its order, the lower court relied upon testimony concerning the Respondents' actions and history of the area to be developed to find that there was support in the record to uphold the recitals contained within the TIF ordinance. However, such testimony was ad hoc, created after the City had enacted the TIF-amending ordinance. It was also subject to a motion in limine and a standing objection since government should not take action without creating a record of why it takes such action. (See, plaintiff's motion *in limine*, ROA 37-38).

As discussed below, the trial court's decision is clearly based upon incompetent testimony, (and in some cases rank speculation by the Mayor about what his fellow council members "knew" about property values). In the case of Horry Telephone Cooperative, Inc. v. City of Georgetown, 759 S.E.2d 132, 408 S.C. 348 (S.C. 2014), this Court held that, "Municipal records properly authenticated or verified are the only competent evidence of the proceedings or transactions of governing bodies."

The entire year of official city council minutes (Joint Ex. 6, ROA 717-757) do not reflect a discussion of the supporting "facts" set forth in the lower court's order. In fact, with respect to property values and blight, the testimony of the City Manager was that the City Council only reviewed one study of so-called declining values *and it was not on open record, nor reflected in the minutes of City Council*. Moreover, that solitary document, was created by the City's attorneys, analyzing 16 properties, but only seven of which were parcels within the TIF District, and a couple were not even in the City of North Augusta. Five of the seven which were actually in the TIF District had new construction on them, and one had been recently sold for \$274,900, and it was a duplex. (Scott Gudith Affidavit and Photo, ROA 80-82, 249).

It is important to note that Gudith's testimony was not directly contradicted by any witness for the respondents. It was also buttressed by the testimony of the Appellant, and his analysis of the value of property within the TIF that was also not contradicted. (As an aside, the City manager or the mayor should have known about the building permits it granted on those five parcels, but they seemed to have ignored that in their presentations.)

The trial court also specifically relied upon defendant's Exhibit 9 (ROA 576-711), in its decision. First, that document was created shortly before trial, and not disclosed to Appellant's counsel until hours prior to trial. Secondly, it was never utilized by the City Council in its

deliberations, and thus cannot support the legislative recitals in the 2013 TIF ordinance. Third, once more, it violated the concept set forth in the Horry Telephone Cooperative case, *supra*, and Appellant's standing objection to such material being in evidence at all. Appellant not only relied upon the standing objection, but specifically objected to the exhibit. (ROA 180-181).

Moreover, Defendant's Exhibit 9, was 136 pages long, and even the trial court did not appear to rely upon anything other than the first page summary. (ROA 12, 186). The trial court's error in relying merely upon the first page graph, is amply demonstrated by the affidavit of Appellant in support of the Rule 59 motion (ROA 52-54). The *ad hoc* valuation set forth in Exhibit 9 is further addressed below.

The trial court's bias in favor of the municipality is further demonstrated by its finding that, "Pursuing Project Jackson **required** the City to amend the Ordinance 96-10 to designate a baseball stadium as part of the redevelopment project, and to extend the amount and term of TIF obligations to finance the project" (ROA 6). Although it costs a lot of money to build a stadium for someone else's benefit, there is nothing in the record, nor in the transcript of testimony that indicates alternate types of funding could not be pursued. There is nothing in the record indicating that the private owners of the baseball team are contributing a dime to this project, nor that they will stay in the stadium until the bond is paid off. In fact, the record indicates that the private owners are leaving their stadium in Augusta, after being there only sixteen years. The bond to build a stadium for such a fickle owner will take until 2048 to repay, far longer than their stay at their current home. There is no indication in the record that the privately owned baseball team cannot afford to build its own stadium in North Augusta without taxpayer supported bonds. Such wealth transfers to private industry should be carefully scrutinized and not just run through the grist mill of politics and rubber stamped because local politicians said they liked the project.

The trial court committed further error in its finding that the “blight” could not be alleviated without expanding the debt and the payments obligations of the TIF. In January of 2013, merely ten months prior to the passage of the ordinance obligating the taxpayers almost four fold over the original TIF, the City and the developer signed an agreement for development that required no additional TIF funds. In fact, those monies had been collected and banked by the City already pursuant to the existing TIF at approximately \$700,000 per year. (ROA 152, 170)

Another indication of the Court’s over reliance on the incompetent testimony is its finding that the “specific property on which Project Jackson will be developed is unimproved since the TIF District was established 18 years ago” (ROA 11). The fact that it had not been improved is irrelevant under the statutory test of “static or declining values”, when Appellant introduced un-contradicted evidence that the particular parcel in question had increased in value from its purchase in 2007 for \$436,920 to \$459,646 in 2011. (ROA 247, Aiken County Tax Assessor’s certified value). Moreover, the 2011 development plan of the City two years earlier did not identify that parcel as being “blighted” even though other parts of the city were identified as blighted. (ROA 183-184).

The trial court’s deference to legislative findings is the correct standard, but should not be considered a rubber stamp for any action taken by a taxing authority. Simply having crumbling buildings and some brick on the riverfront does not mean that values are static or declining. Appellant’s home and subdivision were built on an old city dump, without TIF money, and they had to excavate the dirt to create stable foundations for a very nice neighborhood with homes ranging between the “high threes to over a million” in value. (ROA 84, 85).

The Court's findings of fact in reference to the City's efforts to "revitalize" the City's urban commercial district, (ROA 12), it ignores the testimony and findings of the only expert to testify in the case, Tom Regan, who is a sports economist. His uncontroverted testimony was that the stadium is not going into the urban center of the City, and that it is going into a suburban portion of the City. He further testified that building a stadium could adversely impact the tax revenues of the City since it would not be subject to ad valorem taxes, and high end houses like those already built on either side of the proposed site would have a higher impact on increasing tax revenue. Further that there would be no increase in jobs, and no real net positive impact economically for the City, since the existing team is simply moving across the Savannah River less than two miles. (ROA 56-60, 187-213). In response to his testimony, the witnesses or the City contended that their intent was to move the City's commercial center to the River, something that is not supported by any of their development plans since 1991.

Where the alleged facts relied upon by the court in upholding the City's actions are never publically debated, the legislative body bases its decisions on information not readily available to the public; which is not publically debated nor discussed in the sunshine of an open meeting, and it involves increasing the bonded indebtedness of the municipality four fold over what was previously authorized, that entity should lose the customary judicial deference. Appellant contends that not only was the City's process factually in error, to the degree that it was arbitrary and capricious, but that it violated South Carolina's sunshine act, which is discussed more fully further below.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT ONCE THE PREDICATE IS ESTABLISHED FOR CREATING A TIF DISTRICT THE CITY WAS NOT REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH ALL ELEMENTS OF THE STATUTE WHEN EXPANDING THE AMOUNT AND PAYMENT OBLIGATION OF THE TIF.**

The original TIF was created in 1996 by City Ordinance No. 1996-10. That ordinance incorporated the findings of “blight” in City Resolution No. 91-06, adopted five years earlier, in 1991. Resolution 91-06 did not include a finding of blight for the area which the City now intends for Project Jackson (ROA 254). Furthermore, those findings by the City were 17 years and 21 years old, respectively, at the time of adoption of the amended TIF in order to fund a stadium for privately owned minor league baseball team. It is unreasonable to assume that the same conditions that existed in redevelopment project area (TIF District) after the fair market value in that area had increased from 22.7 million dollars in 2002 to over 138 million dollars in 2013 and the assessed value had increased over 500%. (ROA 94, 223-224). Had the City Council been as aware of property values as claimed by the Mayor in his testimony, they should have realized the increase in overall value.

The lower court concluded (ROA 8) that the law only requires the finding of blight, declining or static property values and the need for substantial public assistance to correct them *one* time, before any TIF obligations are issued and within ten years of the adoption of the TIF Plan. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 31-6-70 and 80(A). The lower court also indicated that its analysis of the statute made sense since otherwise, cities and counties would be stuck with outmoded TIF plans, and not able to adjust to current circumstances. Of course, a harmonious reading of the statute would indicate that after a substantial passage of time, when a TIF is being expanded in size, debt or duration, all the city is required to do under the statute is to make new findings of fact of the need for such expansion at the taxpayers cost, based upon actual and not ad hoc and erroneous numbers created a few hours before trial.

The lower court’s interpretation of the law would permit cities to make the required findings for a small parcel of land in order to create a TIF district and then add any amount of

land to that district without any other findings of blight, or declining values or need for substantial public assistance. For example, with a seed of two acres of land a city could amend a TIF repeatedly to 5, 50 or 500 acres and never have to go through the findings required of an initial TIF; or increase the project redevelopment plan from 5,000 dollars, to five million, to fifty million, which is more analogous to the case at bar.

The court's interpretation of the amending provisions would allow a small TIF district (or small amount of initial debt) to operate like a seed, which once established, would permit a city to use its "TIF license" to designate any lands in their jurisdiction whether contiguous or not to the original district, so long as they held a public hearing (B); provide notice to the other taxing districts (C); and the other taxing district are deemed to have consented unless they object (D).

The lower court's interpretation of the law should be compared to the amendment process when the TIF does not expand the area, or time, or change the amount or uses of the proceeds of the municipal debt obligations. SC Code § 31-6-80(F)(1). The legislature was very clear, stating that if the city is not going to substantially alter a TIF, then it is only required to seek agreement from the other taxing entities similar to section 31-6-80(C), supra, and publish a notice in the paper of the changes similar to section 31-6-80(B), supra. But when substantially changing a TIF, the state legislature required that all procedures be followed as if creating an initial TIF.

The legislature was very detailed when it laid out the amending process for a TIF when the amendment is insubstantial, i.e., property wasn't added, area not expanded, or time period not extended. However, when it came to substantial changes to the TIF, the legislature felt it was such a significant departure that they simply wrote "The municipality may by ordinance make changes to the redevelopment plan . . . in accordance with the procedures provided in this

**chapter** for the **initial approval** or a redevelopment project and designation of a redevelopment project area.” [Emphasis added] SC Code § 31-6-80(F)(2). Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 388 S.C. 138, 148, 694 S.E.2d 525, 530 (2010) (“ Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, ... the court has no right to impose another meaning.” )

The trial court’s conclusion of law that following the entire chapter and all of its procedures in the substantial amendment process would prevent a municipality from amending a project that is no longer viable, or lock it into outdated plans that did not meet current needs completely ignores the streamlined amendment process in the preceding section. See SC Code § 31-6-80(F)(1).

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