RECEIVED

JAN 29 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

**APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

Stephen P. DonohueAppellant,

v.

City of North Augusta,
the Mayor and City Council
of North AugustaRespondents.

Case No. 2013-CP-02-02781
Appellate Case No. 2014-002235

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
CITY OF NORTH AUGUSTA, THE MAYOR
AND CITY COUNCIL OF NORTH AUGUSTA**

Belton T. Zeigler
Gary T. Pope, Jr.
Charles D. Rhodes, III
Pope Zeigler, LLC
P.O. Box 11509
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 354-4900

Kelly F. Zier
Zier Law Firm
P.O. Box 6516
North Augusta, SC 29861
(803) 278-4586

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I.

S.C. CODE ANN. § 31-6-80 REQUIRES BLIGHT FINDINGS BEFORE TIF BONDS ARE INITIALLY ISSUED, NOT WHEN REDEVELOPMENT PLANS ARE ADOPTED OR AMENDED.

There are two steps to the establishment and funding of a TIF District: (1) the approval of a redevelopment plan, and (2) the issuance of TIF bonds to fund the plan. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 31-6-80; 31-6-70 (2007). Municipalities may take both steps simultaneously but that is not required. The statute provides that up to ten years may elapse between the steps. S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-70.

S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-80(B)-(E) lays out the procedures for approval of a redevelopment plan. Subsection (B) of that section reads:

Before approving any redevelopment plan under this chapter, the governing body of the municipality must hold a public hearing on the redevelopment plan after published notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the municipality and any taxing district affected by the redevelopment plan is located not less than fifteen days and not more than thirty days prior to the hearing.

Subsections (C)-(E) go on to specify the notices that must be given to other taxing entities (*e.g.*, counties, school districts, and special purpose districts), the process for such entities to indicate whether they will participate in the plan or not, the newspaper notice that must be published if the municipality adopts the plan, and other matters. Nowhere in the procedures for approving a redevelopment plan are there any requirements of findings of blight or that property values remain static or are declining. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-80(B)-(E).

The requirements for blight and property value findings appear only in Section 31-6-80(A). Subsection (A) specifies that these findings that must be made “[p]rior to the issuance of any obligations under this chapter,” *i.e.*, before the initial TIF bonds are issued. Thus, these findings are a requirement for the initial issuance of TIF bonds, not for the approval or amendment of a redevelopment plan. The statute is carefully structured to separate the requirements for making blight and property value findings from the processes for the approval or amendment of the redevelopment plan.

The latter point is important because this appeal involves a challenge to the amendment of a redevelopment plan. The parties agree that the procedure for amendments of this kind is established by S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-80(F)(2), which provides that such amendments shall be made “in accordance with the *procedures* provided in this chapter for the *initial approval* of a redevelopment project and designation of a redevelopment project area.” (emphasis supplied). The procedures for the initial approval of a redevelopment plan are those set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-80(B)-(E). They do not include any requirements for findings concerning blight or property values.

Under Appellant's interpretation of Section 31-6-80, if a municipality eliminated the obvious signs of blight in the early stages of implementing a redevelopment plan, it would lose the right to ever amend its redevelopment plan going forward. Thus, the municipality might be locked into implementing an outmoded or misaligned plan, perhaps for decades.

If nothing else, the facts of this case show that redevelopment plans roll out in phases that may be separated by a decade or more. They may be interrupted by economic downturns and other dislocations. In North Augusta's case, the initial designation of the community redevelopment district took place approximately 24 years ago. The acquisition and consolidation of property and the installation of the roads, parks, streetscapes, utilities and other infrastructure to support the plan—including the development of the Project Jackson site—began approximately 14 years ago. Even today, it will take many more years to completely redevelop the District. Over so long an expanse of time, economic conditions, opportunities and development patterns change significantly. For this reason, municipalities need the right to amend their redevelopment plans even after the initial and most obvious signs of blight have been eliminated.

There is nothing sinister about granting this power to the elected representatives of North Augusta, as Appellant would seem to suggest. The logic of the TIF Law is simple. A municipality may designate a redevelopment district and project. To fund redevelopment, it may set aside the increased revenue generated from rising property values in that district. No new taxes are imposed. Taxpayers are not saddled with additional burdens. The municipality may issue bonds to pay for that redevelopment secured by the future revenue growth. Other taxing districts (counties, school districts, or

special districts) may agree that all or part of the growth in their tax revenue from the TIF district may go to the municipality for investment in the district. They make that decision in their sole discretion.

Ours is a representative democracy. *Joytime Distributors & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 642, 528 S.E.2d 647, 651 (1999). Any decision to extend or expand a TIF district or to increase the amount of bonds issued in association with it are committed to the elected representatives of the municipality. Counties, school districts, and special purpose districts may decide whether to participate in any extension or expansion of a TIF district. They do so at their sole discretion. The elected officials who make that discretionary decision are the same elected officials who would decide how to otherwise spend the revenue if there were no TIF district.

Nor is sunsetting an issue. TIF districts sunset when the bonds are paid and the elected representative of the sponsoring municipality decide that further projects benefitting the district are not required. Other taxing entities must consent on a case by case basis to their revenues being subject to any extension or expansion of the redevelopment plan.

Although North Augusta included findings related to blight and declining property values in Ordinance No. 2013-19, it was under no requirement to do so for the Ordinance to amount to a valid amendment of the Plan. The trial court's conclusion of law that "the City was not required to make updated findings related to blight, declining or static property values or the need for public assistance to correct them," was a proper interpretation of the TIF Law. (R. p. 9)

II.

THE DISTRICT IS “DEEMED BLIGHTED” BASED UPON THE STATUTORY DEFINITION OF “BLIGHTED AREA.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-30(1) (Supp. 2014), defines a “blighted area” as follows:

(1) "Blighted area" means any improved or vacant area within the boundaries of a redevelopment project area located within the territorial limits of the municipality where:

(a) if improved, . . . ;

(b) if vacant, the sound growth is impaired by:

(i) a combination of two or more of the following factors: . . . ; or

(ii) the area immediately prior to becoming vacant qualified as a blighted area.

Any area within a redevelopment plan established by Chapter 10 of Title 31 is deemed to be a blighted area.

(emphasis supplied) The structure of this subsection plainly shows that both improved and vacant areas within a redevelopment plan established by Chapter 10 of Title 31 are deemed to be blighted areas.

Appellant’s insists that the last sentence of this definition applies only to vacant areas. However, notes provided by the Code Commissioner contained in the 2014 Supplement to the South Carolina Code clarify that “[i]n 2013, the Code Commissioner removed text which formerly appeared as the second sentence of subsection (1)(b)(ii) and added it as the last undesignated paragraph under subsection (1).”

Moreover, Appellant points to no logical reason why the General Assembly would assume that unimproved land within a redevelopment plan is per se blighted, but improved land is not. Furthermore, in arguing that “only the vacant land within a redevelopment district” is deemed to be blighted, Appellant admits that all vacant land in the District is

indeed per se blighted. (App. Brief, p. 13) Much of the land in the district is vacant, including the large area between Georgia Avenue and Hammonds Ferry where Project Jackson will be located. (R. p. 87, lines 12–19; R. p. 124, line 16 – 125, line 4; R. p. 162, lines 10-17) If that is the case, then a large swath of blight exists in the heart of the Riverfront Redevelopment District, and the statutory standard is met.

In Section 1.01(4) of Ordinance No. 96-10, the initial TIF ordinance, the City found that the District was designated “within the meaning of the Community Development Law” and specifically that the District was deemed to be blighted as a result. (R. pp. 264 - 265) This determination was reiterated in Ordinance No. 2013-19 at Section 2.08(b). (R. p. 771) This finding is in itself determinative of the issue of blight under the TIF Law. The area comprising the District is blighted per se under S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-30(1).

III.

THE RECORD CONTAINS EXTENSIVE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS OF BLIGHT, STAGNANT OR DECLINING PROPERTY VALUES, AND THE NEED FOR PUBLIC ASSISTANCE TO OVERCOME THEM.

At trial, North Augusta’s Mayor, who is a real estate attorney, and its City Administrator, who has a graduate degree in public administration, provided extensive testimony establishing the existence of blight in the District, stagnant or declining property values, and the need for public assistance to overcome them. (R. p. 153, lines 14 – 22; R. p. 155, lines 3–20; R. p. 156, line 23 – 158, line 1; R. p. 160, lines 2–5; R. p. 175, line 6 – p. 182, line 12) They supported this testimony with photographs, maps, and other documents. (R. pp. 542 – 575; R. pp. 576 – 581; R. pp. 582 - 717) Appellant seeks to exclude this testimony from consideration based on his assertion that under South Carolina

law the factual findings of legislative bodies must be supported by facts on a “legislative record.” That is not the law.

In *Richards v. City of Columbia*, 227 S.C. 538, 88 S.E.2d 683 (1955), a citizen challenged an ordinance of the City of Columbia alleging insufficient evidence supported statutorily required findings of fact. The ordinance required the repair or demolition of dwellings that were determined to be unfit for habitation. *Id.* at 543, 88 S.E.2d at 685. A recently adopted statute authorized such an ordinance upon a legislative finding by the city council that dwellings within the municipality were unfit for human habitation due to a number of factors. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 31-15-20 (2007) (originally codified at 36-502 (1952)).

The Court held that “[l]egislative findings of fact, while not binding upon the court, will not be overturned except by convincing evidence to the contrary.” *Id.* at 560, 88 S.E.2d at 694.

[T]here are many instances where the constitutionality of an act depends upon pertinent facts and in such a case it is presumed from the mere passage of the act that there was a finding of such facts as were necessary to authorize the enactment. However, by the better rule, such implied or express finding is subject to judicial review, and the court may consider extrinsic evidence or this purpose, although the statute will not be held unconstitutional unless such (legislative) finding is clearly erroneous.

Id. at 561, 88 S.E.2d at 694. The Court affirmed the trial court’s reliance upon evidence presented at trial that supported the findings of fact in the ordinance. *Id.* at 562, 88 S.E.2d at 694–95.

For a municipality to find that property within a redevelopment district is blighted, it must find that property within the district is subject to at least 5 of a list of 22 enumerated factors that are detrimental to the public safety, health, morals, or welfare. *See*, S.C. Code

Ann. §31-6-30(1)(a) (2007). Extensive evidence and testimony was presented at trial to support the City’s finding that blight exists within the District. The pictures of ruined buildings at the Project Jackson site, along with the testimony of Mayor Lark Jones and City Administrator, Todd Glover, show that buildings and improvements within the District suffer from age, dilapidation, obsolescence, deterioration, falling below minimum code standards, the presence of environmental hazards, and depreciation of physical maintenance. (R. p. 153, lines 14–22; R. p. 155, lines 3–20; R. p. 156, line 23 – p. 158, line 1; R. p. 160, lines 2–5; R. p. 175, line 6 – p. 182, line 12; R. pp. 542 – 575; R. pp. 576 – 581; R. pp. 582 - 717)

Before issuing initial TIF obligations, a municipality must also find that “property values in the area would remain static or decline without public intervention.” S.C. Code Ann. § 31-6-80(A)(7) (2007). Contrary to Appellant’s assertions, there is no requirement that all property within the redevelopment district decline in value, or that the aggregate value of property within the district decline. Nor is there a requirement that values decline relative to their value when the redevelopment district was originally created. The TIF Law only requires that there exist within the area properties that would remain static or decline in value without public intervention. *Id.* Ample evidence was presented at trial to show that there are properties within and around the District that are of declining or static value. (R. pp. 582 - 717²; R. p. 93, line 21 – p. 94, line 2; R. p. 106, line 22 – p. 107, line

² Appellant objects to the trial court’s reliance on “Defendant’s Exhibit 9” (admitted as Def. Ex. 16; R. pp. 582 - 717) that consisted of a number of charts showing the declining value of some properties within the District and an accompanying map that showed each parcel within the District that had declined in value. Appellant’s claim that he “objected to its offer into evidence . . . , because he did not have time to scrutinize [it] prior to trial” is not supported by the record. Appellant was provided with the property value data represented on the charts and map weeks before trial. Appellant had, himself, reviewed the data and summarized it for trial. (R. p. 94, lines 3-16) Appellant explicitly consented to the introduction of that data in the form of line graphs showing the values of those properties within the district that declined in value, subject only to his prior motion in limine that sought to exclude from the record extrinsic evidence to support

12; R. p. 179, line 4 – 182, line 12) Mr. Glover testified to the findings contained in the City's Comprehensive Development Plan. (R. pp. 542 - 575) The plan concluded that the City's historical commercial district, which is part of the District, was suffering from decline, increasing numbers of vacant and underutilized buildings, and deteriorating buildings. The plan traced the cause of this decline to the loss of traffic in the area due to strip malls and big lot stores being located on the urban perimeter. As Mr. Glover testified, Project Jackson represents an "anchor tenant" which is specifically intended to bring commercial traffic back to the City core and thereby help reverse the on-going decline of the historical commercial district. (R. p. 164, line 24 – p. 167, line 1)

The creation of a new city center at the Project Jackson site is intended to bring commercial and foot traffic back to the urban core. Administrator Glover testified affirmatively that public assistance is necessary for the Project Jackson site to be developed at all, due in part to the blighting of the property due to rubble, tunnels, pits, foundations and buried brick. (R. p. 175, lines 6-23; R. p. 176, line 22 – p. 177, line 6; R. p. 179, line 19 – p. 180, line 2) But to develop it into a vibrant and attractive city center also requires a high degree of planning and coordination as is shown in the development plans presented at trial. (R. p. 168, line 24 – p. 169, line 23)

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the January 8, 2013, Agreement between Riverfront and the City does not demonstrate that public assistance was unnecessary to complete the redevelopment of the riverfront. (R. pp. 226 - 246) Under the Riverfront Agreement, Riverfront was only obligated to build two 4,000 square commercial buildings in exchange for an investment of \$2.4 million by the City in infrastructure improvements.

the legislative findings of fact. (R. p. 180, line 14 – p. 181, line 21). No objection as to timeliness or prejudice related to these graphs was raised at trial. Therefore, it is not properly before the court.

The Riverfront Agreement would have ultimately required an investment of substantially more than the City's initial \$2.4 million for the development of the site to be fully accomplished.

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